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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Supreme Court 


In the Matter of James C. Cox, Jr.,  Respondent. 

Appellate Case No. 2016-000925 

Opinion No. 27642 
Submitted May 24, 2016 - Filed June 22, 2016 

PUBLIC REPRIMAND 

Lesley M. Coggiola, Disciplinary Counsel, and Sabrina 
C. Todd, Assistant Disciplinary Counsel, both of 
Columbia, for Office of Disciplinary Counsel.   

James C. Cox, Jr., of Hartsville, pro se. 

PER CURIAM: In this attorney disciplinary matter, respondent and the Office 
of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC) have entered into an Agreement for Discipline by 
Consent (Agreement) pursuant to Rule 21 of the Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary 
Enforcement (RLDE) contained in Rule 413 of the South Carolina Appellate Court 
Rules (SCACR). In the Agreement, respondent admits misconduct and consents to 
the imposition of a public reprimand or definite suspension not to exceed nine (9) 
months.  In addition, respondent agrees to pay the costs incurred in the 
investigation and prosecution of this matter by ODC and the Commission on 
Lawyer Conduct (the Commission) within thirty (30) days of the imposition of 
discipline. He further agrees to complete the Legal Ethics and Practice Program 
Ethics School, Trust Account School, and Law Office Management School within 
one year if a public reprimand is issued and no later than one year after 
reinstatement if a period of suspension is imposed.  We accept the Agreement, 
issue a public reprimand, and impose conditions as stated hereafter in this opinion. 
The facts, as set forth in the Agreement, are as follows. 
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Facts and Law 

Matter I 

Edward E. Saleeby, Sr., was the managing partner of Saleeby, Saleeby, and 
Herring, and remained so until his death in 2002.  In 1971, respondent was hired 
as an associate at Saleeby, Saleeby and Herring, P.A.  Respondent became an 
equity partner during the 1970s. 

Edward E. Saleeby, Jr., (Mr. Saleeby) joined the firm in 1978.  Mr. Saleeby 
became a partner approximately two years before his father's death and became 
managing partner upon his father's death.   

A few years after his father's death, Mr. Saleeby hired paralegal Rebecca Puleo 
Shaw who had previously worked for the firm.  In the years that followed, Mr. 
Saleeby was often absent from the office due to health and personal problems but 
remained managing partner.  In April of 2003, Shaw began misappropriating funds 
from the firm's trust account.  She continued misappropriating trust account funds 
until she was terminated in March of 2008 for other reasons.   

During Shaw's employment, firm procedures required preparation of a 
disbursement sheet itemizing all receipts and disbursements associated with the 
case. The disbursement sheet was always reviewed with the client and respondent 
almost always reviewed the disbursement sheets in his cases before they were sent 
to the office manager.  The office manager was to issue checks based on figures 
listed on the disbursement sheet and the staff member assisting on the file would 
prepare letters and mail payments to the respective parties.   

Shaw did not have authority to issue or sign checks.  Although there is evidence 
that in at least one case she prepared an alternate disbursement sheet, Shaw 
generally was able to request the issuance of trust account checks without proving 
the disbursements were proper. This was the result of a breakdown in official 
procedures without the knowing assistance of the office manager. 

Sometimes, Shaw would have a check issued to a fictitious payee and, at other 
times, she would request a check payable to the client or a relative of the client.  
Shaw generally, but not always, chose to issue a check in an amount equal to the 
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savings that resulted from medical providers agreeing to accept reduced payments.  
She then forged the payee's endorsement, endorsed the check with her own 
signature, and cashed the check or deposited it into her own account.     

In total, Shaw misappropriated $349,227.34 through the issuance and negotiation 
of 201 checks. Seventeen of those checks totaling $75,766.95 were issued in 
connection with an underage client whose medical bills exceeded the total 
insurance available in the case.  The child's mother filed a complaint.  The majority 
of the improperly issued and negotiated checks, including those issued in the 
child's case, were issued on Mr. Saleeby's files, however, some of the 
misappropriations occurred on respondent's files and those of firm associates.   

Respondent discovered Shaw's misappropriation when the mother of one of his 
clients reported her son continued receiving medical bills after settling his case.  
Respondent learned a check had been issued in connection with the case to a 
person neither he nor his client's mother recognized.  Respondent attempted to 
reach Shaw as she had worked on the file, but she had since been terminated on 
other grounds. Shaw spoke with the office manager.  Shaw admitted the payee 
was fictitious.  Shaw failed to appear for a scheduled meeting with respondent, but 
provided the office manager with a cashier's check for $17,288.61 and a list of files 
from which she had stolen money.  The subsequent investigation revealed the theft 
was more widespread than Shaw acknowledged.   

The firm reported Shaw to law enforcement.  Shaw was charged with one count of 
breach of trust in excess of $10,000 and ten counts of forgery.  She entered a guilty 
plea to breach of trust and four counts of forgery.  Shaw was sentenced to a total of 
ten years imprisonment, suspended upon service of nine months and five years of 
probation. Shaw was ordered to pay $155,000 in restitution.  The firm also filed a 
lawsuit against Shaw which it later voluntarily dismissed.   

The firm incurred great expense to determine the total amount Shaw 
misappropriated and to repay the proper parties.   

Respondent acknowledges Shaw's theft could have been prevented if checks were 
only issued based on the disbursement sheet signed by the client and reviewed by 
the assigned attorney or if the assigned attorney reviewed the checks issued against 
the signed disbursement sheet.  Respondent further admits Shaw's theft could have 
been discovered and stopped had the backs of the cleared checks been reviewed 
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during the monthly reconciliation process.  In addition, respondent admits the firm 
was only reconciling the receipt and disbursement journal to the bank statement.  
Neither the disbursement sheets nor the client ledgers were used in the 
reconciliation process. 

During some of Shaw's employment, respondent was her direct supervisor and, at 
other times, Mr. Saleeby was her direct supervisor.  Respondent acknowledges 
that, as a partner in the firm, he was required to make reasonable efforts to ensure 
the firm had measures in place giving reasonable assurance that the firm's non-
lawyer staff conducted themselves in a manner that was compatible with his 
professional obligations. Respondent further acknowledges that, as her direct 
supervisor during part of her employment, he was obliged to make reasonable 
efforts to ensure that Shaw conducted herself in a manner compatible with his 
professional obligations.  Respondent admits the firm's trust account practices were 
inadequate. 

Respondent admits that his conduct violated the following provisions of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR:  Rule 1.15 (lawyer shall safekeep 
client property); Rule 5.3(a) (partner shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that  
firm has in effect measures giving reasonable assurance that non-lawyer 
employee's conduct is compatible with professional obligations of lawyer); and 
Rule 5.3(b) (lawyer having direct supervisory authority over non-lawyer employee 
shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that employee’s conduct is compatible with 
professional obligations of lawyer).  In addition, respondent admits his conduct 
violated the financial obligations of Rule 417, SCACR.     

Matter II 

Respondent agreed to serve as attorney for an estate.  The will called for the 
deceased's widow and one of his children to serve as co-personal representatives of 
the estate. Although the matter was complicated by disputes over ownership of a 
business and the validity of a purported codicil, respondent admits he failed to 
diligently handle the matter and failed to keep one of the co-personal 
representatives and the heirs informed of the status of the matter.  During the 
pendency of the matter, respondent's office scheduled a meeting with the 
deceased's children; respondent failed to appear at the meeting, failed to explain his 
absence, and failed to reschedule the meeting. 
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Respondent admits that his conduct violated the following provisions of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR:  Rule 1.3 (lawyer shall act with 
reasonable diligence and promptness in representing client); and Rule 1.4 (lawyer 
shall keep client reasonably informed about status of matter). 

Matter III 

Respondent wrote to a court reporter and requested a trial transcript.  He 
specifically agreed to pay the per page charge for the transcript.  Respondent did 
not pay the court reporter despite receiving an invoice for $700.80 with the 
transcript and four subsequent reminder invoices.  The reminder invoices clearly 
stated the total amount due and the number of times payment had been requested.  

Respondent did not pay the court reporter until after she filed a complaint 
approximately ten months after her final invoice.  Respondent asserts that his 
failure to timely pay the court reporter was an oversight caused by the fact that 
transcripts had to be ordered from more than one court reporter for the multiple 
day trial and his belief that another attorney who chose to appeal had paid for the 
transcript. However, respondent acknowledges that he should have investigated 
the matter after receiving reminder invoices, especially since the court reporter 
mentioned the confusion about the necessity of paying multiple court reporters for 
the transcripts of the trial in her cover letter with the final invoice.   

Respondent admits that his conduct violated the following provisions of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR:  Rule 4.4(a) (in representing client, 
lawyer shall not use means that have no substantial purpose other than to delay or 
burden third person); and Rule 8.4(e) (it is professional misconduct for lawyer to 
engage in conduct prejudicial to administration of justice).  

Matter IV 

In mid-August 2012, Mr. Doe was arrested for criminal domestic violence arising 
from an incident involving the mother of his children.  On September 10, 2012, an 
order of protection was issued.  The mother received custody of the children and 
Mr. Doe was permitted alternating weekend visitation.  The order of protection 
was valid for six months.  
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Mr. Doe hired respondent the day after the order of protection was issued.  No fee 
agreement was signed.  Mr. Doe maintains respondent was to help him obtain a 
more permanent visitation order.  

Respondent requested a jury trial in the criminal matter.  He also moved for a 
rehearing on the order of protection, but took no further action on that matter after 
the original rehearing date was cancelled due to a scheduling conflict.  Respondent 
also failed to file the domestic action, but filed an answer and motion for change of 
venue in response to mother's March 2013 action for custody and child support.  
Mother requested a temporary hearing in her action which was continued and 
never rescheduled. 

In September of 2014, Mr. Doe advised respondent he had lost contact with his 
children. Respondent requested law enforcement conduct a welfare check; the 
house was found vacant.  Respondent then requested a hearing and attempted to 
negotiate a consent order, but the hearing was continued because of a scheduling 
conflict and an agreement was not reached.  In February 2015, mother's action was 
dismissed pursuant to the 365-day rule.  By this time, Mr. Doe had hired another 
attorney to help him obtain a visitation order.  Respondent remains counsel of 
record on Mr. Doe's pending criminal charge.    

Respondent acknowledges he failed to adequately consult with Mr. Doe regarding 
the scope of his objectives and thus failed to clearly establish the scope of the 
representation. He further admits he failed to keep Mr. Doe informed about the 
status of his efforts in regard to the order of protection and mother's domestic 
action. Finally, respondent admits he failed to diligently pursue Mr. Doe's goal of 
securing a visitation schedule with his children.  

Respondent admits that his conduct violated the following provisions of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR:  Rule 1.3 (lawyer shall act with 
reasonable diligence and promptness in representing client); Rule 1.4 (a)(2) 
(lawyer shall reasonably consult with client about means by which client's 
objectives are to be accomplished); Rule 1.4(a)(3) (lawyer shall keep client 
reasonably informed about status of matter); and Rule 1.5(b) ( scope of 
representation shall be communicated to client, preferably in writing, before or 
within reasonable time after commencing representation).    
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Matter V
	

Ms. Roe hired respondent to seek custody of one of her children who was living 
with a relative pursuant to a South Carolina Department of Social Services (DSS) 
order. Respondent accepted a fee of $2,000.  He later agreed to represent Ms. Roe 
in a divorce without any additional fee.  The divorce was handled without incident.   

As to the custody matter, the relative with custody ultimately agreed to allow the 
child to live with Ms. Roe on a temporary basis.  Respondent asked DSS whether 
the agency was a necessary party to a temporary change of custody.  A staff 
attorney for the agency responded it was not necessary for the agency to be named 
as a party, but asked respondent to forward a copy of the order to the agency if the 
change of custody occurred.  Ms. Roe also wanted a formal order.   

Respondent did not seek a court order for the temporary change of custody and did 
not seek a permanent change of custody.  The child has now reached the age of 
majority. 

Respondent admits his conduct violated the following provision of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR:  Rule 1.3 (lawyer shall act with 
reasonable diligence and promptness in representing client).   

Respondent also admits his conduct in each of these matters constitute grounds for 
discipline under Rule 7(a)(1) of the Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement, 
Rule 413, SCACR: (it shall be ground for discipline for lawyer to violate Rules of 
Professional Conduct or any other rules of this jurisdiction regarding professional 
conduct of lawyers). 

Conclusion 

We find respondent's misconduct warrants a public reprimand.  Accordingly, we 
accept the Agreement and publicly reprimand respondent for his misconduct.   
Respondent shall pay the costs incurred in the investigation and prosecution of this 
matter by ODC and the Commission within thirty (30) days of the date of this 
opinion and shall complete the Legal Ethics and Practice Program Ethics School, 
Trust Account School, and Law Office Management School within one (1) year of 
the date of this opinion.  Respondent shall provide proof of his completion of each 

20 




 

 

 

 
 

program to the Commission no later than ten (10) days after the conclusion of each 
program. 

PUBLIC REPRIMAND. 


PLEICONES, C.J., BEATTY, KITTREDGE, HEARN and FEW, JJ., concur.
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The Supreme Court of South Carolina
 

In the Matter of Richard G. D'Agostino, Respondent. 

Appellate Case No. 2016-000979 

ORDER 

Respondent has submitted a Motion to Resign in Lieu of Discipline pursuant to 
Rule 35 of the Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement (RLDE) contained in 
Rule 413 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.  We grant the Motion to 
Resign in Lieu of Discipline.  In accordance with the provisions of Rule 35, RLDE, 
respondent's resignation shall be permanent.    

Within fifteen (15) days of the date of this order, respondent shall file an affidavit 
with the Clerk of Court showing that he has complied with Rule 30, RLDE, and 
shall also surrender his Certificate of Admission to Practice Law to the Clerk of 
Court. 

s/ Costa M. Pleicones C.J. 

s/ Donald W. Beatty J. 

s/ John W. Kittredge J. 

s/ Kaye G. Hearn J. 

s/ John Cannon Few J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 

June 15, 2016 
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The Supreme Court of South Carolina 

In the Matter of Scott D. Reynolds, Petitioner. 

Appellate Case No. 2015-001574 

ORDER 

On November 27, 2013, this Court suspended petitioner from the practice of law 
for nine (9) months with conditions.  In the Matter of Reynolds, 406 S.C. 356, 751 
S.E.2d 662 (2013). Petitioner has now filed a Petition for Reinstatement pursuant 
to Rule 33 of the Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement (RLDE) contained in 
Rule 413 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules (SCACR).  

The Court grants the Petition for Reinstatement on the condition that petitioner 
extends his current monitoring contract with Lawyers Helping Lawyers for a 
period of one (1) year.     

s/ Costa M. Pleicones C.J. 

s/ Donald W. Beatty J. 

s/ John W. Kittredge J. 

s/ Kaye G. Hearn J. 

s/ John Cannon Few J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 

June 15, 2016 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Court of Appeals 


Meredith Huffman, Appellant, 

v. 

Sunshine Recycling, LLC and Aiken Electric 
Cooperative, Inc., Respondents. 

Appellate Case No. 2014-001492 

Appeal From Orangeburg County 

Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge 


Opinion No. 5417 

Heard May 4, 2016 – Filed June 22, 2016 


REVERSED AND REMANDED 

J. Todd Rutherford, of The Rutherford Law Firm, LLC, 
and Robert F. Goings, of Goings Law Firm, LLC, both of 
Columbia, for Appellant. 

Breon C.M. Walker and Jessica A. Waller, both of 
Gallivan, White & Boyd, P.A., of Columbia, for 
Respondent Sunshine Recycling, LLC.  

Pope D. Johnson, III, of Columbia, for Respondent Aiken 
Electric Cooperative, Inc. 

GEATHERS, J.:  In this action for false imprisonment and malicious prosecution, 
Appellant Meredith Huffman seeks review of the circuit court's order granting 
summary judgment to Respondents, Sunshine Recycling, LLC (Sunshine) and 
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Aiken Electric Cooperative, Inc. (Aiken) (collectively, Respondents).  Huffman 
argues there were genuine issues of material fact concerning whether Respondents 
caused, instigated, or procured her arrest and the extent of Respondents' 
participation in law enforcement's charging Huffman with receiving stolen goods.  
We reverse and remand for a trial on the merits of Huffman's false imprisonment 
and malicious prosecution claims.1 

FACTS/PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On May 16, 2010, an unidentified black male broke into Aiken's Orangeburg 
facility. Shortly thereafter, a white Ford F-150 truck was seen leaving the facility's 
parking lot. The next day, Mark Goss, Aiken's Loss Control and Safety 
Coordinator, viewed the surveillance video and advised Deputy Maurice Huggins 
of the Orangeburg County Sheriff's Department that several pounds of solid copper 
and several pounds of aluminum tie wire had been stolen from Aiken.  At that 
time, Goss estimated the value of the stolen metal to be approximately $330.   

On that same day, Goss also checked with Sunshine, a metal recycling business, to 
see if anyone had tried to sell the stolen metal to Sunshine. Goss discovered the 
stolen metal at Sunshine and spoke with Sunshine's owner, Joseph Rich.  Goss told 
Rich he was looking for a black male in a white Ford pickup truck.   

Officer Ashley Aldridge of the Orangeburg County Sheriff's Department also 
appeared at Sunshine to investigate the theft.  Rich, who claimed to speak Spanish, 
spoke to an unnamed Spanish-speaking employee working in the metal drop-off 
area but failed to mention that Goss was looking for a black male in a white Ford 
pickup truck. Rich's employee allegedly told Rich that a white woman was the 
first person to drop off metal that morning.  Although the individual who stole the 
metal from Aiken was a black male, Goss testified in his deposition that in the 
metal industry, "it's not uncommon for girlfriends and wives to bring metal in and 
drop them off. It happens all the time."   

1 We decline to address Aiken's additional sustaining ground.  See I'On, L.L.C. v. 
Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) ("It is within 
the appellate court's discretion whether to address any additional sustaining 
grounds." (footnote omitted)); id. at 421, 526 S.E.2d at 724 ("[T]he respondent 
may raise an additional sustaining ground that was not even presented to the lower 
court, but the appellate court is likely to ignore it." (footnote omitted)). 
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Rich told Officer Aldridge and Goss they were welcome to view the receipts 
documenting the amount paid to customers who had sold metal to Sunshine and the 
time-stamped video footage of customers waiting at the payment window.  Officer 
Aldridge viewed this video and saw Huffman waiting for her payment.  Officer 
Aldridge also obtained a receipt for the metal sold by Huffman, which indicated a 
payment of $53 to her.   

Subsequently, Goss spoke with Officer James Ethridge of the Orangeburg County 
Sheriff's Department and told Officer Ethridge that he had spoken with Huffman 
while she was waiting to get paid for "the items that she had just brought in."2 

Goss also told Officer Ethridge that "he viewed the items after she left and 
identified them as" belonging to Aiken.  Actually, when Goss identified the metal 
left in Sunshine's drop-off area as the metal stolen from Aiken, he was viewing 
what had been commingled with the metal left by Huffman.  Goss recognized that 
some of the copper and aluminum in the area had characteristics distinguishable 
from those of the copper and aluminum stolen from Aiken.  Goss admitted in his 
deposition, "it was all right there in like a big pile kind of, and I don't remember if 
it was on top of each other or what.  It was all right there in one section."  When 
Rich advised Goss that Huffman left the stolen metal, Goss apparently did not 
mention the distinction he had made between the different types of copper and 
aluminum in the area.  Further, Rich's employee apparently did not tell Rich that a 
black male in a white Ford pickup truck dropped off metal immediately after 
Huffman dropped off her metal. 

On the next day, May 18, 2010, Officer Ethridge visited Sunshine to photograph 
the metal identified as stolen.  While he was there, he also spoke with Rich, who 
stated he had not yet obtained a copy of the video showing customers dropping off 
their metal but he would contact Palmetto Security Cameras to request Alan Price 
to "burn" a copy of the video for Officer Ethridge.  During the next three days, 
Goss called Officer Ethridge several times, asking him what he was going to do 
with the case. During this same time period, Officer Ethridge called Rich several 
times, asking when he could obtain the video of customers dropping off metal.   

While still waiting on this video, Officer Ethridge contacted a local magistrate on 
May 21, 2010, to obtain a warrant for Huffman's arrest for receiving stolen goods.3 

2 In his deposition, Goss denied ever speaking with Huffman. 

3 This offense is considered a "misdemeanor triable in magistrate[']s court or 

municipal court . . . if the value of the property is two thousand dollars or less."  

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180 (C)(1) (2015). 
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After Huffman learned about the warrant, she advised Officer Ethridge that she 
sold metal to Sunshine but it was not stolen; rather, it was salvaged from a mobile 
home belonging to her and her husband after they tore down the home.  Officer 
Ethridge instructed Huffman to meet him at the Sheriff's Department at 9:00 a.m. 
the next morning, June 2, 2010. At that time, Huffman gave a statement to Officer 
Ethridge, and he formally served Huffman with the arrest warrant.  Officer 
Ethridge then placed Huffman in handcuffs, and she was required to change into a 
prison jumpsuit and wait for the next bond hearing.  She was unable to telephone 
her home to check on her children, who were not being supervised by an adult, and 
she was required to appear at the bond hearing handcuffed and shackled.  Huffman 
obtained a personal recognizance bond, and she was finally released at 
approximately 5:00 p.m. 

After Huffman's arrest and release, Officer Ethridge finally was able to view the 
video of Huffman dropping off her metal at Sunshine.  Goss viewed this video 
around the same time that Officer Ethridge viewed it, although Goss had actually 
received the video before Huffman was arrested. Rich never viewed the video.   

In his report, Officer Ethridge stated that he watched "the video of where 
[Huffman] took the items off of her truck and she did have some copper that 
resembles what was taken in the back of her truck, but the aluminum was 
sheeting[,] not wire." He further stated he advised Rich "that after viewing the 
video, it does not show her with the same items that w[ere] taken.  Due to these 
facts[,] there is not enough evidence to support this case.  I will be dismissing these 
charges on Huffman." Notably, the video also showed that the customer following 
Huffman was the black male Goss had seen on Aiken's surveillance video, Eugene 
James, unloading metal from the white Ford pickup truck he was driving. 

Near the end of his report, Officer Ethridge noted, "At this time[,] I am not 
comfortable with this case due to the witnesses gave [sic] me false information the 
first time."  After Officer Ethridge dropped the charge of receiving stolen goods 
against Huffman, the Sheriff's Department finally located James.  James ultimately 
pled guilty to the charges brought against him. 

On May 9, 2012, Huffman filed a complaint against the Sheriff's Department and 
Sunshine, asserting claims for negligence, false imprisonment, and malicious 
prosecution. In May 2013, Huffman amended her complaint to add Aiken as a 
defendant. On or about June 27, 2013, Aiken filed a motion to dismiss Huffman's 
complaint against it.  Huffman later settled her claims against the Sheriff's 
Department, and the two parties filed a stipulation dismissing the Sheriff's 
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Department from  the action on or about December 18, 2014.  Several weeks later, 
Sunshine filed a motion for summary judgment, and the circuit court conducted a 
hearing on this motion as well as Aiken's motion to dismiss on March 10, 2014.  
Upon Aiken's request, the circuit court converted Aiken's motion to dismiss into a 
summary judgment motion.   
 
On or about April 3, 2014, the circuit court granted Respondents' summary 
judgment motions.  The circuit court later denied Huffman's motion to alter or 
amend the written order granting summary judgment.  This appeal followed.  

 
ISSUES ON APPEAL 

 
1. 	 Were there issues of fact material to whether Huffman's arrest was lawful? 
 
2. 	 Were there issues of fact material to whether Respondents caused, 

instigated, or procured Huffman's arrest? 
 
3. 	 Were there issues of fact material to whether there was probable cause to 

charge Huffman with receiving stolen goods?  
 
4. 	 Were there issues of fact material to Respondents' participation in local law 

enforcement's charging Huffman with receiving stolen goods? 
 

STANDARD OF REVIEW  
 
This court reviews the grant of a summary judgment motion under the same 
standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP.  Jackson v. 
Bermuda Sands, Inc., 383 S.C. 11, 14 n.2, 677 S.E.2d 612, 614 n.2 (Ct. App. 
2009). Rule 56(c), SCRCP, provides summary judgment shall be granted when 
"the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, 
together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any 
material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of 
law." "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist for summary 
judgment purposes, the evidence and all the inferences [that] can be reasonably 
drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the 
nonmoving party."  Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co., 381 S.C. 326, 329-30, 673 
S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009); Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493-94, 567 S.E.2d 857, 
860 (2002). 
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Further, "[s]ummary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute 
as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be 
drawn from those facts." Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc., 349 
S.C. 356, 362, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002).  "On appeal from an order granting 
summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, 
and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the 
non-moving party below."  Id. 

Moreover, "in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, 
the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in 
order to withstand a motion for summary judgment."  Hancock, 381 S.C. at 330, 
673 S.E.2d at 803. "At the summary judgment stage of litigation, the court does 
not weigh conflicting evidence with respect to a disputed material fact."  S.C. Prop. 
& Cas. Guar. Ass'n v. Yensen, 345 S.C. 512, 518, 548 S.E.2d 880, 883 (Ct. App. 
2001). "[B]ecause summary judgment is a drastic remedy, it should be cautiously 
invoked to ensure a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual 
issues." Lord v. D & J Enterprises, Inc., 407 S.C. 544, 553, 757 S.E.2d 695, 699 
(2014). 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

I. False Imprisonment 

Huffman contends the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to 
Respondents on her false imprisonment claim because there were genuine factual 
issues material to the unlawfulness of her arrest and the complicity of both 
Sunshine and Aiken in the arrest.  We agree. 

A. Probable Cause 

The essence of the tort of false imprisonment consists of 
depriving a person of his liberty without lawful 
justification. To prevail on a claim for false 
imprisonment, the plaintiff must establish: (1) the 
defendant restrained the plaintiff, (2) the restraint was 
intentional, and (3) the restraint was unlawful. 

The fundamental issue in determining the lawfulness of 
an arrest is whether there was probable cause to make 
the arrest. Probable cause is defined as a good faith 
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belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief 
rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily 
prudent and cautious man, under the circumstances, to 
believe likewise. Although the question of whether 
probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may 
be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields 
but one conclusion. 

McBride v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cty., 389 S.C. 546, 567, 698 S.E.2d 845, 856 
(Ct. App. 2010) (emphases added) (quoting Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 368 S.C. 
424, 440-41, 629 S.E.2d 642, 651 (2006)). 

Here, it is undisputed that Officer Eldridge intended to restrain Huffman's liberty 
when he arrested her. Therefore, we need only consider whether there was a 
scintilla of evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Huffman, from which a 
juror could reasonably conclude that the restraint was unlawful, i.e., made 
without probable cause. See Lanham, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333 
("Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to 
evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn 
from those facts.").  In other words, to send this false imprisonment claim to the 
jury, the court need only find a scintilla of evidence, viewed in the light most 
favorable to Huffman, from which a juror could reasonably conclude that Officer 
Ethridge's belief in Huffman's guilt did not rest "on such grounds as would induce 
an ordinarily prudent and cautious man, under the circumstances, to believe 
likewise." McBride, 389 S.C. at 567, 698 S.E.2d at 856 (emphasis added) 
(defining probable cause) (quoting Law, 368 S.C. at 441, 629 S.E.2d at 651)).  As 
we engage in such an analysis, we must "review all ambiguities, conclusions, and 
inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to 
[Huffman]."  Lanham, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333 (emphasis added).        

Officer Ethridge relied on the following information in forming his belief in 
Huffman's guilt:  (1) Officer Aldridge's report indicating Rich and Goss told him 
Huffman brought Aiken's stolen metal into Sunshine's facility; (2) Rich's oral 
statement to Officer Ethridge that "his employees [who] work in the copper area 
advised that Huffman was the individual who brought the merchandise in"; (3) a 
video of Huffman waiting at the payment window in the main office to get paid for 
the metal she brought in and her presentation of her driver's license to complete the 
transaction; (4) Goss's oral statement that he spoke to Huffman while she was at 
Sunshine's main office "waiting to get paid for the items that she had just brought 
in" and that Goss "viewed the items after she left and identified them as being 
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theirs," i.e., the metal stolen from Aiken; and (5) the ticket/receipt showing 
Sunshine's payment of $53 to Huffman for the aluminum and copper she left at 
Sunshine. 

As to the statements made by Rich and Goss to Officers Aldridge and Ethridge, 
Officer Ethridge knew this information was based on Rich's allegations that (1) an 
unidentified Spanish-speaking employee stated a "white woman" brought in metal 
resembling the metal Goss identified as stolen from Aiken and (2) Rich spoke and 
understood Spanish.4 Neither the employee nor Rich provided a written statement 
to police. In a light most favorable to Huffman, this evidence indicates an 
unreliable ground on which to rest a belief in Huffman's guilt. 

Further, the receipt for $53 stands in stark contrast to the $330 estimate of the 
value of the stolen metal. A juror could reasonably conclude that this anomaly 
would prevent an ordinarily prudent and cautious man from believing Huffman 
sold the metal stolen from Aiken. See Lanham, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333 
("Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to 
evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn 
from those facts."); id. ("On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the 
appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in 
and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.").  
A juror could also reasonably conclude that an ordinarily prudent and cautious man 
would have waited to view the video showing Huffman dropping off her metal, 
which Rich promised was forthcoming, before seeking an arrest warrant.   

Probable cause may be decided as a matter of law only "when the evidence yields 
but one conclusion." McBride, 389 S.C. at 567, 698 S.E.2d at 856 (quoting Law, 
368 S.C. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649).  This is not a case where the sole conclusion 
to be reached is that there was probable cause to arrest Huffman.  The question 
should have gone to the jury. 

4 Officer Ethridge's report states that Officer Aldridge observed "the business video 
surveillance and observed Huffman bringing the merchandise in and selling it to 
Sunshine." However, the video Officer Aldridge observed merely showed 
Huffman waiting at the payment window; it does not show Huffman dropping off 
her metal in the back area of Sunshine's facility. 
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B.  Respondents' Complicity 

[W]here a private person induces an officer by request, 
direction or command to unlawfully arrest another, he is 
liable for false imprisonment.  The charge of false 
imprisonment is not confined to the party who unlawfully 
seizes or restrains another, but it likewise extends to any 
person who may cause, instigate or procure an unlawful 
arrest. 

Wingate v. Postal Tel. & Cable Co., 204 S.C. 520, 528, 30 S.E.2d 307, 311 (1944) 
(emphases added).  On the other hand, 

Where a person merely directs the attention of a police 
officer to what he supposes to be a breach of the peace, 
or gives to such officer facts indicating such, and the 
officer, without other direction, arrests the offender on 
his own responsibility, the person who did nothing more 
than communicate the facts to the officer is not liable for 
causing the arrest, even though it is made without a 
warrant. Where a person has information or knowledge 
that the law has been violated, he not only has a right, but 
frequently it is his duty, to communicate such 
information or facts to the proper officer so as to give 
such officer the opportunity, if in his judgment it is 
proper to do so, to take whatever steps may be necessary 
to apprehend the offender. . . .  "Those who honestly seek 
the enforcement of the law . . . and who are supported by 
circumstances sufficiently strong to warrant a cautious 
man in the belief that the party suspected may be guilty 
of the offense charged, should not be made unduly 
apprehensive that they will be held answerable in 
damages." 

Id. at 527-28, 30 S.E.2d at 310-311 (second alteration by Burton v. McNeill, 196 
S.C. 250, 253, 13 S.E.2d 10, 11 (1941)) (emphasis added) (citations omitted) 
(quoting Burton, 196 S.C. at 253-54, 13 S.E.2d at 11).   
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1.  Aiken 


The following information was available to Goss prior to Huffman's arrest:  (1) 
Rich's oral statement about what his Spanish-speaking employee told him, i.e., a 
white woman was the first person to drop off metal on the morning in question; (2) 
the metal Goss identified as being stolen was actually commingled with Huffman's 
metal, a fact Goss apparently did not share with anyone before Huffman's arrest; 
(3) the video of Huffman and James dropping off metal at Sunshine, although Goss 
failed to view the video until after Huffman's arrest; and (4) the $53 receipt for 
Huffman's metal, although Goss did not ask Rich to show him the receipt until 
after Huffman's arrest.  A reasonable juror could conclude that Goss was not 
"supported by circumstances sufficiently strong to warrant a cautious man in the 
belief that [Huffman was] guilty of the offense charged."  Wingate, 204 S.C. at 
528, 30 S.E.2d at 310-311 ("Those who honestly seek the enforcement of the 
law . . . and who are supported by circumstances sufficiently strong to warrant a 
cautious man in the belief that the party suspected may be guilty of the offense 
charged, should not be made unduly apprehensive that they will be held 
answerable in damages." (alteration by Burton) (quoting Burton, 196 S.C. at 253-
54, 13 S.E.2d at 11)). 

Further, Huffman points to the following evidence showing that Goss, as Aiken's 
agent, induced her arrest: (1) Officer Ethridge stated in his report that Goss called 
him "several times about moving further with the case" and (2) Officer Aldridge 
testified that Goss indicated "a sense of urgency" in obtaining a resolution to the 
case and that he was "eager to see that the [S]heriff's [D]epartment arrest someone 
for this alleged crime." Officer Aldridge was not certain whether Goss expressed 
this sense of urgency in May 2010, before Huffman's arrest, or in June 2010, 
before the Sheriff's Department located James.  Aldridge later testified that his 
"urgency" comment could have referred to arresting either Huffman or James.  
Officer Aldridge elaborated, 

A And [Goss] told me that he would like to see 
something done. You said earlier that it's not uncommon 
for someone to want to see something done, especially 
within his line of work. 

Now, that being said, he also expressed to me that he was 
a reserve deputy sheriff and he expected something to be 
done. 
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Moreover, Officer Ethridge testified, 

I didn't have the video at that point in time so [Goss] 
wanted to know what I was going to do.  Was I going to 
try and arrest her, lock her up, you know, speak with a 
magistrate, what to do.  On the 21st, that's what I did is 
[sic] I went and spoke with a magistrate.     

Q Did you feel that [Goss] was urging you to 
prosecute [Huffman]? 

. . . 

He was calling me.  He was calling me just like 
any other victim would.  You know, what are you doing?  
You know, what -- I mean, he had people he had to 
answer to . . . 

. . . 

Q Okay. And the reason he was calling you is 
because he wanted --

A To know what I was going to do with the case.  
Was I --

. . . 

-- going to arrest her, yeah. 

Officer Ethridge also testified "I had spoke[n] with Sunshine [s]everal times[,] 
trying to obtain a copy of the video and [Goss] was calling me, wanting to know 
what I was doing with the case."     

This evidence belies Aiken's contentions that Goss was merely providing "factual 
information" to the Sheriff's Department.  A juror could reasonably conclude from 
the foregoing evidence that Goss induced Officer Ethridge "by request, direction or 
command to unlawfully arrest" Huffman or "cause[d], instigate[d] or procure[d]" 
the arrest. Wingate, 204 S.C. at 528, 30 S.E.2d at 311 ("[W]here a private person 

34 




 

 
 

 
  
 

 

   
 

 

 

                                                            

induces an officer by request, direction or command to unlawfully arrest another, 
he is liable for false imprisonment.  The charge of false imprisonment is not 
confined to the party who unlawfully seizes or restrains another, but it likewise 
extends to any person who may cause, instigate or procure an unlawful arrest."); 
Lanham, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333  ("Summary judgment should not be 
granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is 
disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts."); id. ("On 
appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review 
all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a 
light most favorable to the non-moving party below.").   

2.  Sunshine 

Officer Ethridge testified that when he visited Sunshine, "[t]hey were guaranteeing 
that the metal that [Huffman] brought in was the metal -- [Goss] was saying this is 
100 percent our metal from [Aiken] and the [receipt] was showing the weights, 
everything, was -- was co- -- everything was looking the same." (emphasis added).  
It is unclear whether "they" referred to Rich, as Sunshine's agent, or Goss, as 
Aiken's agent, or both.  Therefore, a jury could reasonably infer that either or both 
men made this representation. 

Further, Rich admitted he did not bother to ask his Spanish-speaking employee to 
identify the second or third person who had dropped off metal on the morning in 
question. He stated, "That's what the cameras are for."  Yet, Rich never bothered 
to view the video himself despite the fact that he could have obtained a copy of the 
video before Huffman's arrest.5 

Moreover, in explaining why he did not view the video of Huffman dropping off 
her metal before arresting Huffman, Officer Ethridge indicated that he called Alan 
Price, with Palmetto Security Cameras, several times.  The following exchange 
then occurred: 

Q So either -- you didn't personally see the video or 
watch the video at Sunshine.  You were told by Sunshine 
that it showed [Huffman] -- 

A Correct. 

5 Goss was able to obtain a copy of the video before Huffman's arrest.  Therefore, 
presumably, Rich was able to do so as well. 

35 




 

 
Q -- with the -
 
. . . 
 
[A] She -- yes, yes. 

 
A juror could reasonably infer from  this testimony that Rich, who never bothered 
to view the video himself,  represented to Officer Ethridge that  the video would 
show Huffman dropping off the $330 worth of metal stolen from Aiken.  Based on 
the foregoing circumstances, a reasonable juror could conclude that Rich's 
representation to Officer Ethridge was not "supported by circumstances sufficiently 
strong to warrant a cautious man in the belief that [Huffman was] guilty of the 
offense charged." Wingate, 204 S.C. at 528, 30 S.E.2d at 311 (quoting Burton, 196 
S.C. at 253-54, 13 S.E.2d at 11).  A reasonable juror could also conclude that Rich 
"cause[d], instigate[d] or procure[d]" Huffman's arrest.  Wingate, 204 S.C. at 528, 
30 S.E.2d at 311. 
 
In sum, Huffman showed, at the very least, a scintilla of evidence that both Goss 
and Rich induced Officer Ethridge "by request, direction or command to 
unlawfully arrest" Huffman or "cause[d], instigate[d] or procure[d]" the arrest.  
Wingate, 204 S.C. at 528, 30 S.E.2d at 311.  Therefore, we reverse summary 
judgment for Respondents on Huffman's false imprisonment claim.   See Hancock, 
381 S.C. at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803 ("[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the 
evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere 
scintilla of evidence in order to  withstand a motion for summary judgment."); 
Lanham, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333  ("Summary judgment should not be 
granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if  there is 
disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from  those facts."); id. ("On 
appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review 
all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a 
light most favorable to the non-moving party below.").  
 
II. Malicious Prosecution 
 
Huffman maintains the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to 
Respondents on her malicious prosecution claim because there were genuine 
factual issues material to probable cause as well as the complicity of both Sunshine 
and Aiken in proceeding with the charge of receiving stolen goods against her.  We 
agree. 
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"[T]he elements of malicious prosecution are (1) the institution or continuation of 
original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) 
termination of such proceedings in plaintiff's favor; (4) malice in instituting such 
proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage."  
McBride, 389 S.C. at 565-66, 698 S.E.2d at 855.  "In this cause of action, malice is 
'the deliberate intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse.'"  
Id. (quoting Eaves v. Broad River Elec. Coop., Inc., 277 S.C. 475, 479, 289 S.E.2d 
414, 416 (1982)). "Malice does not necessarily mean a defendant acted out of 
spite, revenge, or with a malignant disposition . . . ."  Law, 368 S.C. at 437, 629 
S.E.2d at 649. 

Malice also may proceed from an ill-regulated mind 
which is not sufficiently cautious before causing injury to 
another person. Moreover, malice may be implied where 
the evidence reveals a disregard of the consequences of 
an injurious act, without reference to any special injury 
that may be inflicted on another person.  Malice also may 
be implied in the doing of an illegal act for one's own 
gratification or purpose without regard to the rights of 
others or the injury which may be inflicted on another 
person. In an action for malicious prosecution, malice 
may be inferred from a lack of probable cause to institute 
the prosecution. 

Id. (emphases added). It is the plaintiff's burden "to show that the prosecuting 
person or entity lacked probable cause to pursue a criminal or civil action against 
him."  Id. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649. 

Probable cause means "the extent of such facts and 
circumstances as would excite the belief in a reasonable 
mind acting on the facts within the knowledge of the 
prosecutor that the person charged was guilty of a crime 
for which he has been charged, and only those facts and 
circumstances which were or should have been known to 
the prosecutor at the time he instituted the prosecution 
should be considered."  In determining the existence of 
probable cause, the facts must be "regarded from the 
point of view of the party prosecuting; the question is not 
what the actual facts were, but what he honestly believed 
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them to be." . . .  Although the question of whether 
probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may 
be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields 
but one conclusion. 

Id. (emphases added) (citations omitted).6 

In the light most favorable to Huffman, there is at least a scintilla of evidence, as 
highlighted in our discussion of the false imprisonment claim, from which a juror 
could reasonably conclude (1) Officer Ethridge lacked probable cause to pursue a 
warrant for Huffman's arrest and (2) this pursuit was "at the instance of" both 
Respondents. See supra; Law, 368 S.C. at 437, 629 S.E.2d at 649 ("In an action 
for malicious prosecution, malice may be inferred from a lack of probable cause to 
institute the prosecution."); McBride, 389 S.C. at 565-66, 698 S.E.2d at 855 
(setting forth the elements of a malicious prosecution claim); Hancock, 381 S.C. at 
330, 673 S.E.2d at 803 ("[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence 
burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of 
evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment."); Lanham, 349 
S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333 ("Summary judgment should not be granted even 
when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning 
the conclusion to be drawn from those facts."); id. ("On appeal from an order 
granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, 
conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most 
favorable to the non-moving party below.").   

Based on the foregoing, we reverse summary judgment for Respondents on 
Huffman's malicious prosecution claim.   

6 Notably, the plaintiffs in Law were indicted by a grand jury for the offenses for 
which they were arrested, and our supreme court noted, "South Carolina has long 
embraced the rule that a true bill of indictment is prima facie evidence of probable 
cause in an action for malicious prosecution."  Id.  However, the offense for which 
Huffman was arrested, receiving stolen goods, is a misdemeanor triable in 
magistrate's or municipal court.  See supra n.2. Charges prosecuted in magistrate's 
court are exempt from the requirement that an indictment be presented to a grand 
jury before a criminal charge is prosecuted.  S.C. Const. art. I, § 11; S.C. Code 
Ann. § 17-19-10 (2014). 
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CONCLUSION 


When we view all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the 
evidence in a light most favorable to Huffman, as we are required to do,7 we find at 
least a scintilla of evidence from which a juror could reasonably conclude that 
Officer Ethridge's pursuit of a warrant for Huffman's arrest and her subsequent 
arrest were made without probable cause and that Goss and Rich set these actions 
in motion.  Because this evidence should have gone to the jury, we reverse the 
circuit court's order and remand for a trial on the merits of Huffman's false 
imprisonment and malicious prosecution claims.   

REVERSED AND REMANDED. 

HUFF and KONDUROS, JJ., concur. 

7  Lanham, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333.  
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